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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
V. 18-CR-108-EAW

KEVIN MORGAN,

Defendant.

PLEA AGREEMENT

The defendant, KEVIN MORGAN, and the United States Attorney for the Western
District of New York (hereinafter "the government") hereby enter into a plea agreement with

the terms and conditions as set out below.

1. THE PLEA AND POSSIBLE SENTENCE

1. The defendant agrees to plead guilty to a one-count Second Superseding
Information which charges a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2113(b) (Bank
Larceny) for which the maximum possible sentence is a term of imprisonment of 1 year, a
fine of $100,000, a mandatory $25 special assessment, a term of supervised release of up to 1
year, and a term of probation of up to 5 years. The defendant understands that the penalties
set forth in this paragraph are the maximum penalties that can be imposed by the Court at

sentencing.

2 The defendant understands that, if it is determined that the defendant has

violated any of the terms or conditions of supervised release, the defendant may be required
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to serve in prison all or part of the term of supervised release, up to 1 year, without credit for
time previously served on supervised release. As a consequence, in the event the defendant
is sentenced to the maximum term of incarceration, a prison term imposed for a violation of
supervised release may result in the defendant serving a sentence of imprisonment longer than

the statutory maximum set forth in 9 1 of this agreement.

II. MENTS AND FACTUAL BAS
3. The defendant understands the nature of the offense set forth in Paragraph 1 of
this agreement and understands that if this case proceeded to trial, the government would be
required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the following elements of the crime:

a. First, that that the defendant took or carried away property or money
belonging to, or in the care, custody, control, management, or
possession of a credit union;

b. Second, that at the time, the credit union was a federal credit union the

accounts of which were insured by the National Credit Union
Administration Board,

c. Third, that the defendant took or carried away such property or money
with the intent to steal; and

d. Fourth, that such property or money did not exceed $1,000 in value.

FACTU S
4, The defendant and the.government agree to the following facts, which form the
basis for the entry of the plea of guilty:
"a. In or around September 2016, in the Western District of New York:
i. The defendant, KEVIN MORGAN, was employed as a Vice

President for Morgan Management, LLC, a real estate management
company that managed over 100 multi-family properties.
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ii. Robert Morgan was the Managing Member of Morgan
Management, LLC.

jii. Bllison Heights Apariments, LLC, (“Ellison ‘Heights, LLC"), a
limited liability company, was created to purchase land and
construct a multi-family residential complex located at 1200-A
Penfield Road in Penfield, New York known as Ellison Heights
Apartments. Ellison Heights, LLC was managed by Robert Morgan.

iv. Ellison Heights, LLC sought to obtain a construction loan from ESL
Pederal Credit Union (*ESL”), a federal credit union the accounts
of which were insured by the National Credit Union Administration
Board, in order to construct the Ellison Heights Apartments.

v. The defendant, KEVIN MORGAN, working with others,
submitted, or caused to be submitted, false documents to ESL in
order to evade the equity requirement of the construction loan. In
this manner, the defendant, working with others, caused ESL to
issue a construction loan to Ellison Heights, LLC based on false and
inflated information regarding the construction contract price.

vi. KEVIN MORGAN'S actions caused ESL to issue the construction
loan to Ellison Heights, LL.C based on false and inflated information
regarding the construction contract price, and ultimately, to provide
funds to Ellison Heights, LLC which ESL would not otherwise have
provided.

vii. The funds provided by ESL to Ellison Heights, LLC constituted
property and money belonging to, and in the care, custody, control,
management, and possession of ESL.

b. KEVIN MORGAN acknowledges, understands, and agrees that he is, in
fact, guilty of the offense described above, which is a violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 2113(b).

c. The above facts are set forth for the limited purpose of complying with
Rule 11(b)3) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, and are not
intended to serve as a complete statement of the defendant’s criminal
conduct.

d. The parties acknowledge and understand that if this case were to proceed
to trial, the government would be able to prove these facts beyond a
reasonable doubt. ' :
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Ioml. SENTEN GUIDEL

5. The defendant understands that the Court must consider but is not bound by

the Sentencing Guidelines (Sentencing Reform Act of 1984).

BASE OFFENSE LEVEL
6. The government and the defendant agree that Guidelines § 2B1.1(a)(2) applies

to the offense of conviction and provides for a base offense level of 6.

SPECIFIC OFFENSE CHARACTERISTICS
U.S.S.G. CHAPTER 2 ADJUSTMENTS

7. The government and the defendant agree that no specific offense characteristics

apply.

ADJUSTED OFFENSE LEVEL
8. Based on the foregoing, it is the understanding of the government and the

defendant that the adjusted offense level for the offense of conviction is 6.

OF PONSIBILITY
9. At sentencing, the government agrees not to oppose the recommendation that
the Court apply the two (2) level decrease of Guidelines § 3E1.1(a) (acceptance of

responsibility), which would result in a total offense level of 4.
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CRIMINAL HISTORY CATEGORY |
10. 1t is the understanding of the government and the defendant that the

defendant’s criminal history category is 1. The defendant understands that if the def‘endant is
sentenced for, or convicted of, any other charges prior to sentencing in this action the
defendant's criminal history category may increase. The defendant understands that the
defendant has no right to withdraw the plea of guilty based on the Court’s determination of

the defendant’s criminal history category.

GUIDELINES' APPLICATION, CALCULATIONS AND IMPACT
11.  Itis the understanding of the government and the defendant that, with a total

offense level of 4 and criminal history category of I, the defendant's sentencing range would
be a term of imprisonment of 0 to 6 months, a fine of $500 to $9,500, and a period of
supervised release of 1 year or a period of probation of up to 3 years. Notwithstanding this,
the defendant understands that at sentencing the defendant is subject to the maximum

penalties set forth in paragraph 1 of this agreement.

12. Notwitbstandiﬁg the above calculations, it is the agreement of the parties
pursuant to Rule 11(c)(1)(C) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure that the Couzt at the
time of sentence impose a sentence of no incarceration and no probation as part of the
approprliate sentence in this case. If, after reviewing the presentence report, the Court rejects
this agreement, the parties will be relieved of their other obligations under this agreement and
the defendant shall then be afforded the opportunity to withdraw the plea of guilty. This
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agreement does not affect the amount of a fine that may be imposed by the Court at

sentencing.

13. The government and the defendant agree to the Sentencing Guidelines
calculations set forth in this agreement and neither party will advocate or recommend the
application of any other Guideline, or move for any Guidelines departure, or move for or
recommend a sentence outside the Guidelines, except as specifically set forth in this
agreement. A breach of this paragraph by one party will relieve the other party of any
agreements made in this plea agreement with respect to sentencing motions and
recommendations. A breach of this paragraph by the defendant shall also relieve the

government from any agreements to dismiss or not pursue additional charges.

14.  The deféndant understands that except as set forth in paragraph 12, above, the
Court is not bound to accept any Sentencing Guidelines calculations set forth in this
agreement and the defendant will not be entitled to withdraw the plea of guilty based on the

sentence imposed by the Court.

15. In the event the Court contemplates any Guidelines adjustments, departures,
or calculations different from those agreed to by the parties above, the partiés reserve the right

to answer any inquiries by the Court concerning the same.



Case 1:18-cr-00108-EAW-HKS Document 635 Filed 08/29/22 Page 7 of 12

IV. STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

16. Inthe event the defendant’s plea of guilty is withdrawn, or conviction vacated,
either pre- or post-sentence, by way of appeal, motion, post-conviction proceeding, collateral
attack or otherwise, the defendant agrees that any charges dismissed pursuant to this
agreement shall be automatically reinstated upon motion of the government and further
agrees not to assert the statute of limitations as a defense to any federal criminal oﬁemg which
is 'not time barred as of the @te of this agreement. Thls waiver shall be effective for a period
of six months following the date upon which the withdrawal of the guilty plea or vacating of

the conviction becomes final.

17.  The defendant agrees to waive any defense based on the statute of limitations

to the charge in the Second Superseding Information.

V. REMOVAL
18.  The defendant represents that he is a citizen of the United States. However, if
the defendant is not a citizen of the United States, the defendant understands that, if
convicted, the defendant may be removed from the United States, denied citizenship, and

- denied admission to the United States in the future.

. V1. GOVERNMENT RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS
19. The defendant understands that the government has reserved the right to:
a. provide to the Probation Office and the Coutt all the information and

evidence in its possession that the government deems relevant
concerning the defendant's background, character and involvement in
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the offense charged, the circumstances surrounding the charge and the
defendant's criminal history;

b. respond at sentencing to any statements made by the defendant or on
the defendant's behalf that are inconsistent with the information and
evidence available to the government;

& advocate for a specific sentence consistent with the terms of this
agreement including the amount of a fine and the method of payment;
and

d. modify its position with respect to any sentencing recommendation or

sentencmg factor under the Guidelines including criminal history
category, in the event that subsequent to this agreement the government
receives previously unknown information, including conduct and
statements by the defendant subsequent to this agreement, regardmg the
recommendation or factor.

20. At sentencing, the government will move to dismiss the Supersedmg

Information filed as to this defendant on December 21, 2018 (Dkt. No. 29).

VII. RESTITUTION AND FINANCIAL PENALTY PROVISIONS
21.  The defendant understands that the Court may require restitution in the
amount determined by the Court as part of the sentence, pursuant to Sentencing Guidelines
§ 5E1.1 and Title 18, United States Code, Section 3663. The defendant understands that
defendant will not be entitled to withdraw the plea of guilty based upon any restitution

amount ordered by the Coutrt.

22.  The parties agree that the loan to the ESL Federal Credit Union referenced in
the Factual Basis section of this agreement has been repaid in full and there is no restitution

due and owing by the defendant to the ESL Federal Credit Union.

i

9[ 29
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23.  The defendant agrees that the defendant will not oppose bifurcation of the
sentencing hearing under 18 U.S.C. § 3664(d)(5) if the victims’ losses are not ascertainable

prior to sentencing.

24.  The defendant agrees to disclose fully and completely all assets in which the
defendant either has any property interest or over which the defendant exercises }co1.11:rol,
directly or indirectly, including those held by a spouse, nominee or other third party. The
defendant agrees to make complete financial disclosure to the United States by truthfully
executing a sworn financial statement by the deadline set by the United States, or if no
deadline is set, no later than two weeks prior to the date of sentencing. The defendant agrees
to authorize the release of all financial information requested by the United States,
including, but not limited to, executing authorization forms for the United States to obtain
tax information, bank account records, credit history, and social security information. The
defendant agrees to discuss or answer any questions by the United States relating to the
defendant's complete financial disclosure. The defendant will submit to an examination
under oath and/or a polygraph examination conducted by an exaﬁha selected by the U.S.
Attorney’s Office on the issue of the defendant’s ﬁnaﬁcial disclosures and assets, if deemed
neces.sary by the U.S. Attorney’s Office. The defendant certifies that the defendant has made
no transfer of assets in contemplation of this prosecution for the purpose of evading or
defeating financial obligations that are created by the agreement and/or that may l;e
imposed upon the defendant by the. Court. In addition, the defendant promises that the

defendant will make no such transfers in the future. -
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25. The defendant understands and agrees that the Court, at the time of
sentencing, will order that all monetary penalties imposed at that time (including any fine,
restitution, or special assessment imposed in accordance with the terms and conditions of
this plea agreement) are to be due and payable in full immediately and will be (i) ;subject to
immediate enforcement as provided for in 18 U.S.C. § 3613, and (ii) submitted to the
Treasury Offset Program (TOP) so that any federal payment or transfer of returned property
the defendant receives may be offset and applied to federal debts but will not affect any

periodic payment schedule set by the Court.

26.  The defendant understands and acknowledges that any schedule of payments
imposed by the Court at the time of sentencing is merely a minimum schedule of payments
and does not, in any way, limit those methods available to the United States to enforce the

judgment.

VIII. APPEAL RIGHTS

27.  The defendant understands that Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742
é.ffords a defendant a limited right to appeal the senteﬂce imposed. The defendant, however,
knowingly waives the right to appeal and collaterally attack any component of a sentence
imposed by the Court which falls w1thm or is less than the sentencing range for
imprisonme'nt, a ﬁn;a, and supérvised release or probation set forth in Section III, 11,
above, notwithstanding the manner in which the Court detmmines.the sentence. In the
event of an appeal of the defendant's sentence by the go.vemment, the defendant reserves the

right to argue the correctness of the defendant's sentence.

10
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28.  The defendant understands that by agreeing not to collaterally attack the
sentence, the defendant is waiving the right to challenge the sentence in the event that in the
future the defendant becomes aware of previously unknown facts or a change in the law

which the defendant believes would justify a decrease in the defendant’s sentence.

29.  The government waives its right to appeal any component of a sentence
imposed by the Court which falls within or is greater than the sentencing range for
imprisonment, a fine and supervised release or probation set forth in Section ITI, 11, above,
notwithstanding the manner in which the Court determines the sentence. However, in the
event of an appeal from the defendant's sentence by the defendant, the government reserves

its right to argue the correctness of the defendant's sentence.

IX. TOTAL AGREEMENT AND AFFIRMATIONS

30.  This plea agreement represents the total agreement between the defendant,
KEVIN MORGAN, and the government. There are no promises made by anyone other
than those contained in this agreement. This agreement supersedes any other prior

agreements, written or oral, entered into between the government and the defendant.

TRINI E. ROSS
United States Attorney
AW n District of New York

B \WC A AN
‘N GLABERSON

Assistant United States Attorney
Dated: August 29, 2022

i
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I have read this agreement, which consists of 12 pages. I have had a full opportunity
to discuss this agreement with my attorney, PATRICK J. BROWN, Esq. I agree that it
represents the total agreement reached between myself and the government. No promises or
representations have been made to me other than what is contained in this agreement. I
understand all of the consequences of my plea of guilty. I fully agree with the contents of this

agreement. I am signing this agreement voluntarily and of my own free will.

issoss. 9y M /_ﬂm«

KEVIN MORGAN 7 PATRICK J. BROWN, ESQ.
Defendant Counsel for the Defendant
Dated: August 29 , 2022 Dated: August Z 9, 2022
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